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Isle of Wight Ancient Woodland Survey 
 Ramcroft Copse, Wilderness Copse, Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill Copse, Guildfordheath Copse 

 
REPORT AUTHOR Dr Vicky Basford DATE OF REPORT  10th March 2014 

SITE DETAILS  
Walkershill Copse, Wilderness Copse and the main parts of Ramscroft Copse and Blackbridge Copse 
ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜ ŀ ǎƛƴƎƭŜ ΨǎƛǘŜΩ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ tǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴŀƭ LƴǾŜƴǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ !ƴŎƛŜƴǘ ²ƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜ the area 
needs to be considered as a whole. 
 
Guildfordheath Copse is not included in the Provisional Inventory of Ancient Woodland but much of 
it is shown as woodland on maps from the late eighteenth century onwards. It is therefore necessary 
to consider whether it should be added to the Inventory.  
 
All the woods discussed in this report are identified in, Figure 1. Historically almost the entire area of 
woodland discussed in this report fell within the ecclesiastical parish of Arreton as shown on the 
1:10,560 1st edition Ordnance Survey of 1863 (Figure 2). Part of Wilderness Copse to the east of the 
Chillingwood Brook fell within Newchurch Parish. However, this report deals with the whole area of 
Wilderness Copse since nearly all of it falls within the Ancient WoodlŀƴŘ LƴǾŜƴǘƻǊȅ ΨǎƛǘŜΩ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ 
below. 
 
Historically, Chillingwood Copse and Little Chillingwood Copse fell within the ecclesiastical parish of 
Newchurch and are not discussed in this report. 
   
LOCATION  
All the woods fall within National Grid squares SZ5488, SZ5489, SZ 5588 and SZ 5589. 
 
AREAS CURRENTLY DEFINED AS ANCIENT WOODLAND  
Three areas are identified in Figure 3 and ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ Ψ!ΩΣ Ψ.Ω ŀƴŘ Ψ/ΩΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎƛȊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŀǊŜŀǎ ƛǎ 
given on the MAgiC website. 
 
Area A 
This area comprises 29.85 hectares of Ancient Replanted Woodland. It includes Walkershill Copse, 
Wilderness Copse, most of Ramcroft Copse and most of Blackbridge Copse.  
 
Area B 
This area comprises 0.8 hectares of Ancient and Semi-Natural Woodland. It lies on the edge of 
Blackbridge Copse to the south-ǿŜǎǘ ƻŦ 5ŜŀŘƳŀƴΩǎ .ǊƻƻƪΦ 
  
Area C  
This area comprises 1.45 hectares of Ancient and Semi-Natural Woodland. It lies at the southern end 
of Ramcroft Copse. 
 
STATUTORY DESIGNATIONS 
AONB 
 
HABITAT 
Most of the area containing Ramscroft Copse, Wilderness Copse, Blackbridge Copse and Walkershill 
Copse is classified as Deciduous Woodland BAP although parts of Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill 
Copse and Guildfordheath Copse have been excluded (see MAgiC website). 
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LAND OWNERSHIP 
Most of the woodland discussed in this report is Forestry Commission land. However, the Forestry 
Commission land excludes the eastern edge of Walkershill Copse, a small area on the edge of 
Blackbridge Copse to the east of Chillingwood Brook, the southern part of Wilderness Copse and a 
small area on the eastern edge of Wilderness Copse. These areas can be identified on the MAgiC 
website and also on the Ordnance Survey 1:25,000 Explorer Map (OL29) where they are not marked 
ŀǎ Ψ!ŎŎŜǎǎ [ŀƴŘΩ.  
 
SITUATION IN LANDSCAPE AND WOODLAND SHAPE 
Historically, Ramcroft Copse, Wilderness Copse, Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill Copse and 
Guildfordheath Copse lay close to the eastern boundary of Arreton Parish which in this area followed 
ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ƻŦ /ƘƛƭƭƛƴƎǿƻƻŘ .ǊƻƻƪΦ 5ŜŀŘƳŀƴΩǎ .Ǌƻƻƪ Ǌǳƴǎ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ DǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ 
Copse and through Blackbridge Copse before flowing into Chillingwood Brook (see Figures 1 and 2). 
All the woods discussed in this report are interconnected and of irregular shape. 
 
TENURIAL HISTORY 
The area now containing Walkershill Copse and Guildfordheath Copse apparently formed part of 
Combley Grange in the medieval period. Combley Grange belonged to Quarr Abbey and was one of 
the outlying farms associated with the abbey. The reconstructed map of Combley Grange in The 
Charters of Quarr Abbey (Hockey 1991, Map 2) suggests that the eastern boundary of the grange 
excluded the area that later became Great Duxmore Farm as well as the area now containing 
Blackbridge Copse, Ramscroft Copse and Wilderness Copse (see Figure 4). However, there is 
evidence that Great Duxmore Farm may have formed part of Combley Grange in the medieval 
period. In about 1275 John de Merrield renounced to Quarr all rights in the dyke between the 
grange of Quarr and his land of Prykely (Hockey 1991, Charter 121). Webster (1975-95) has 
suggested that the eastern part of Great Duxmore, which is actually in Newchurch Parish, was 
formerly the site of Prickle Hedge. If this assumption is correct then the eastern boundary of 
Combley Grange would have lain along the Arreton/Newchurch parish boundary (see Figure 2) and 
would have included part of the later holding of Great Duxmore. In 1532 the abbot of Quarr leased 
to Robert Hawkyslond alias Aclond Ψtwo messuages in the parish of Arreton with the pasture called 
Withyggen meadsΩ (Hockey 1991, Charter 106). This is clearly the property of ΨDǊŜŀǘ 5ǳȄƳƻƻǊΩ ŀǎ 
recorded in the 1559 Royal Survey ǿƘŜǊŜ ƛǘ ƛǎ ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ΨThomas Aclond holds by indenture dated 
1 May 1537 from Thomas Wriottesley, late lord of the manor, two messuages in the parish of 
Arreton and the pasture called WyǘƘȅƎŜƴ ƳŜŘŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ǇŀǊƛǎƘΩ  (Webster 1975-95). The manor 
of Combley had been granted to Thomas Wriothesley in 1537, having formerly been Combley 
Grange until the dissolution of Quarr Abbey in 1536 (Hockey 1970, 242). Great Duxmore was thus 
part of the part of the Combley estate in 1559 but was leased as a separate farm from Combley 
which was occupied by William Colnet in 1559.  
 
After the dissolution of Quarr Abbey in 1536 the Combley estate was held by only three families until 
the late twentieth century.  Thomas Wriosthesley was granted Combley by the Crown in 1537 but 
held it for just over a year until before selling the manor to John Mill (Hockey 1970, 244-245). Sir 
Thomas Fleming acquired Combley Manor and Farm with other former possessions of Quarr Abbey 
on 29 May 1609 (Page 1912, 142-143; 151). In 1613 Sir Thomas Fleming died ƛƴ ǇƻǎǎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ Ψǘhe 
manors of Combley, Heasley, Quarr, Newnham and Binstead, and a tenement in Duxmoor in the 
parish of ArretonΩ ό²ŜōǎǘŜǊ мфтр-95).  Much of the southern part of the Fleming estate, depicted on 
the 1771 estate map and later known as the Downend Estate, remained intact until the 20th century. 
The estate was offered for sale at auction on 8 June 1956 but failed to reach the reserve price. The 
sale prospectus stated that certain portions of the estate were ƭŜǘ ƻǳǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ΨŦƛǾŜ ŦŀǊƳǎ ŦǊƻƳ мру 
ǘƻ оту ŀŎǊŜǎΣ ŀōƻǳǘ орп ŀŎǊŜǎ ƻŦ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘǊŜŜ ŎƻǘǘŀƎŜǎ ƭŜǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ CƻǊŜǎǘǊȅ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴΩ ό²ƛƭƭƛǎ 
Fleming Historical Trust 2007a). Most of the woodland discussed in this report was almost certainly 

http://www.willisfleming.org.uk/estates/wiki/index.php?title=Sir_Thomas_Fleming&action=edit
http://www.willisfleming.org.uk/estates/wiki/index.php?title=Sir_Thomas_Fleming&action=edit
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amongst that let out to the Forestry Commission in 1956 but it is not known when the Commission 
first took on the management of this woodland. 
   
LAND USE HISTORY 
There is no clear evidence for the existence of the individual woods of Ramscroft Copse, Wilderness 
Copse, Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill Copse and Guildfordheath before 1771 when they were 
accurately depicted for the first time on the Fleming Estate Map (Figure 5). The first reference to 
woodland in the Combley area occurs in 1537 when a survey of Combley was made on behalf of the 
crown after the dissolution of Quarr Abbey. The survey ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ΨŦŀǊƳ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƴƻǊΩ 
comprised 471 acres of arable and pasture, 10 acres of meadow and 50 acres of woodland (Webster 
1975-95).This acreage does not seem to have included the tenements at Guildford and Blackbridge 
and other properties separately listed in the survey but may have included Great Duxmore Farm. 
The 50 acres of woodland specifically mentioned in the survey is a surprisingly small amount when 
compared with the acreage of the woods listed in the Fleming estate survey of 1771 (IWCRO/AC 
2013/099).  This survey recorded 166 acres at Combley Great Wood (in three parcels), 32 acres at 
Hoglease Copse (probably an underestimate), 43 acres at Ramcroft Copse and Blackbridge Copse, 16 
acres at Walkershill Copse, 7 acres in Wilderness Copse and 11 acres in different parts of 
Guildfordheath Copse. Assuming that Combley Manor included the area where the woods listed in 
the 1771 survey were located, there are various explanations which may account for the discrepancy 
between the acreage of woodland recorded in 1537 and that recorded in 1771.1 It is possible that 
the Crown reserved some of the woodland within Combley Manor for its own use after the 
dissolution of Quarr Abbey and thus did not include it in the survey. On the 1771 map of the Fleming 
estate (Figure 5) the woods were listed separately from the various farms on the estate because 
they were retained in hand for the use of the landowner. A similar arrangement may have existed in 
1537 with not all the woodland being accounted for because some of it was retained in hand for the 
use of the Crown. However, in describing WriosthesleyΩǎ ǎŀƭŜ ƻŦ Combley to John Mill in 1538, 
Hockey (1970, 244-245) states specifically that he ǎƻƭŘ Ψall the manor, with the various tithes and the 
ǿƻƻŘǎΩΦ If the Crown did retain some woodland on the Combley estate after the grant to 
Wriosthesley, this must have been acquired by the Mill family or the Fleming family at a later date 
since it fell within the Fleming estate in 1771. Another possible explanation for the relatively small 
area of woodland recorded in 1537 may simply be that the amount of woodland was 
underestimated. Alternatively, there could actually have been much less woodland in the early 
sixteenth century than in the late seventeenth century. The Royal Survey of the Isle of Wight (1559) 
refers ǘƻ Ψǘhe ferme or grange of Combley of the lands of George Mille, gent., in occupation of 
William Colnet, gent., holden of the Quene in capite upon which by sundrey coppices newly with 
certain trees imparketed to the value of 8 acres by estimationΩ ό²ŜōǎǘŜǊ мфтр-1995). Thus, some 
new coppice was clearly being created in the sixteenth century and perhaps at a later date. The 
Flemings may have had good reason to extend the woodland at Combley since woodland was 
considered to be a valuable resource by Isle of Wight landowners.  Jones (2003, 80) has pointed out 
ǘƘŀǘ ƛƴ мсол ǘƘŜ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘǎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ {ǿŀƛƴǎǘƻƴ aŀƴƻǊ ŎƻƴǎǘƛǘǳǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǎǘ ΨŎƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭƭȅ Ǿŀƭǳŀble 
ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜǎǘŀǘŜΩΦ !ǘ ŀ ƭŀǘŜǊ ŘŀǘŜΣ ǘƘŜ hƎƭŀƴŘŜǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ŀǘ bǳƴǿŜƭƭ ƳŀŘŜ ƭŀǊƎŜ ǇǊƻŦƛǘǎ ōȅ selling the 
timber in Whitefield Wood to the Royal Navy at Portsmouth. Nonetheless, the 50 acres of woodland 
recorded within Combley Manor in 1537 may well be an underestimate of what actually existed, 
particularly as landscape evidence in the Combley area hints at an ancient origin for much of the 
present-day woodland.  Indeed, the shapes of the woods in this area suggest that they were 
assarted in the medieval period i.e. eaten into by the creation of fields within formerly wooded 
areas. A possible ŜȄŀƳǇƭŜ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ƛǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎƭƻǎŜǎ ƻŦ Ψ[ƛǘǘƭŜ wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ ŀƴŘ ΨDǊŜŀǘ 

                                                             
1 Even if the area now containing Ramcroft Copse, Wilderness Copse, Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill Copse, 
Guildfordheath Copse was not included in the 1537 survey, the area of Combley Great Wood alone might be 
expected to account for at least 150 acres of woodland. 
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wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ όƳŀǊƪŜŘ ŀǎ Ǉƭƻǘǎ ор and 36 on the 1771 Fleming Estate Map) which give the impression of 
having been assarted from Ramcroft Copse.  
 
 
Place-name evidence does not provide strong support for the antiquity of the woodlands discussed 
above. ! ƭŜŀǎŜ ƻŦ /ƻƳōƭŜȅ DǊŀƴƎŜ ŘŀǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ мропκр ǊŜŎƻǊŘǎ Ψǘǿƻ ŦƛŜƭŘǎ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ²ŀƭǘŜǊƘȅƭƭǎΩ όIƻŎƪŜȅ 
мффмΣ /ƘŀǊǘŜǊ мноύ ŀƴŘ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŦƛŜƭŘǎ ǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ŜǉǳŀǘŜǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŦƛŜƭŘ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎ IƛƭƭΩ which 
lies to the south of Walkershill Copse and is named on the 1771 Fleming estate map (see Figure 6). 
Walkers Hill Copse itself is shown but not named on the 1771 map. It may possibly have originated 
as the second of the two fields recorded in 1534/5, becoming wooded at a later date. Ramcroft 
/ƻǇǎŜ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎ /ƻǇǎŜ ŀǊŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƴŀƳŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мттм CƭŜƳƛƴƎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ƳŀǇΦ ¢ƘŜ ǘŜǊƳ ΨŎǊƻŦǘΩ ǿŀǎ 
used in the medieval period for an enclosed meadow or piece of arable land, usually adjacent to a 
house (Richardson 1986, 12). Chillingwood Farm lies close to the area of Ramcroft Copse but is in 
Newchurch Parish whilst Great Duxmore Farm lies about 500 metres to the south of Ramcroft Copse 
and was first recorded in the sixteenth century. However, the name of Ramcroft Copse does not 
necessarily mean that it comprises secondary woodland within a medieval field since the woodland 
itself could have been named from an adjacent croft. Blackbridge Copse is not recorded by name on 
the 1771 map but is shown as part of Ramcroft Copse. Likewise, Guildfordheath Copse is not 
recorded by that name on the 1771 map although two areas of woodland corresponding to parts of 
the present copse are shown. It was not until the 1st edition 1:2500 and 1:10560 Ordnance Survey 
maps of 1863 (Figure 2) that the copses of Blackbridge, Guildfordheath and Walkershill were shown 
ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ƴŀƳŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ƴŀƳŜ ƻŦ ΨDǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘ IŜŀǘƘ /ƻǇǎŜΩ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘǎ ƛǘ could possibly be 
secondary woodland established on former heathland although it could equally have been named 
after adjacent heathland. TƘŜ мттм CƭŜƳƛƴƎ 9ǎǘŀǘŜ aŀǇ ǎƘƻǿǎ ŀ ŦƛŜƭŘ ƴŀƳŜŘ Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ όtƭƻǘ нсύ 
occupying land that is now within the copse and another ŦƛŜƭŘ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ Ψ[ƻǿŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǎƛŘŜ 
of Guildford Lane (see Figure 6).  
 
None of the place-names described above were recorded in the medieval period. The relatively late 
date of these names and the names themselves may hint that the woodland discussed in this report 
is not of ancient origin  
 
MAP EVIDENCE 
Ψ/ƻƳōƭŜȅ ²ƻƻŘΩ ƛǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ ƻƴ WƻƘƴ !ƴŘǊŜǿǎΩ ¢ƻǇƻƎǊŀǇƘƛŎŀƭ aŀǇ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ LǎƭŜ ƻŦ ²ƛƎƘǘΩ at 2 inches to 1 
mile scale (1769) and seems to include the woods ƴƻǿ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ Ψ/ƻƳōƭŜȅ DǊŜŀǘ ²ƻƻŘΩΣ ΨIƻƎƭŜŀǎŜ 
/ƻǇǎŜΩΣ ΨDǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ /ƻǇǎŜΩΣ Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎƘƛƭƭ /ƻǇǎŜΩΣ Ψ.ƭŀŎƪōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƻǇǎŜΩ ŀƴŘ ΨwŀƳǎŎǊƻŦǘ /ƻǇǎŜΩΦ 
However, these woods are not depicted accurately.  In contrast, all the woods mentioned above are 
depicted with reasonable accuracy on the General Plan and Survey of Several Farms called Guildford,  
Cumbley, Duxmoor and Heasley, in the Isle of Wight and County of Hants, Belonging to John 
Flemming Esq prepared by George Salmon in 1771 (Figure 5). On this later map, the woods can be 
recognised as those that exist in the same locations today.  
 
The printed legend around the outside of the 1771 Fleming Estate Map lists the woods associated 
with the farms of Guildford, Cumbley, Duxmoor and Heasley and identifies these woods by letters of 
the alphabet. 2 The details for Ramcroft Copse, Wilderness Copse, Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill 
Copse and Guildfordheath Copse are shown below 
 
 
 
 

                                                             
2
 The extract from the 1771 Survey Plan reproduced as Figure 5 does not include the legend around the 

outside of the plan.  
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1771 Map: 
Alphabetic 

Code/Number 

1771 Map: Name 
  

Area listed 
on 1771 

Map 

Name & Location 
 on modern  OS map 

Notes 

A ΨbƻǊǘƘ ƻŦ bƻΦ нуΩ 16a 1r 37p Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎƘƛƭƭ /ƻǇǎŜΩ Plot No. 28 is a 
clearing named 
Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎ IƛƭƭΩ 
surrounded by 
woodland 

D Ψ²Ŝǎǘ ƻŦ !Ω  4a  0r 33p  ΨDǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ 
/ƻǇǎŜΩ 
(east part) 

West side abuts 
clearing labelled Plot 
26: Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ  

U Harts Rew 7a  0r 08p ΨDǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ /ƻǇǎŜΩ 
(west part) 

West side abuts 
clearing labelled Plot 
нсΥ Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ  

E ΨwŀƳŎǊƻŦǘ 
/ƻǇǇƛŎŜΩ 

43a 3r 29p ΨwŀƳŎǊƻŦǘ /ƻǇǎŜΩand 
Ψ.ƭŀŎƪōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƻǇǎŜΩ  

 

F Wilderness 7a   2r 08p Ψ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎ /ƻǇǎŜΩ  

29 & 31 Spinney north & 
west of Lower 
Ramcroft 

 5a  3r 04p South part of 
Blackbridge Copse 

These spinneys are 
listed among the lands 
of Duxmoor Farm 

 
 
Thus, all the woods shown and named on the modern Ordnance survey map (Figure 1) are also 
shown on the 1771 map (Figure 5) although the actual boundaries are not identical on the two 
maps. It should be noted that although Guildfordheath Copse is not included in the Provisional 
Inventory of Ancient Woodland (Figure 3) it is shown on the 1771 map as two discrete pieces of 
ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ όƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ  Ψ5Ω ŀƴŘ Ψ¦ΩύΣ ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ŀ ŎƭŜŀǊƛƴƎ ƻǊ ŎƭƻǎŜ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩΦ Wood and 
field names are shown on a modern transcription of the 1771 map (Figure 6). The piece of woodland 
labelled Ψ¦Ω ǿŀǎ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ ΨIŀǊǘǎ wŜǿΩ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мттм ƳŀǇΦ This name is also recorded in 1793 when 
William Taylor took a new lease for seven years of Combley Farm (368a. 1r. 39p.), with the coppice 
grounds called Combley Mead Row and Harts Row, from John Fleming, Esq  (IWCRO /FLM/61). It 
would appear from the 1771 map that the southern boundary of Blackbridge Copse lay to the north 
ƻŦ 5ŜŀŘƳŀƴΩǎ .Ǌƻƻƪ ōǳǘ ǘƘŀǘ ŀ spinney, marked as Plot 29, had been planted to the south of this 
boundary ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ Ψ[ƻǿŜǊ wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩΦ !ƴƻǘƘŜǊ ǎǇƛƴƴŜȅ ƛǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǿŜǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ 
Lower Ramcroft (see Figures 5 and 6).  
 
The Ordnance Survey drawing of 1793-4 does not identify the woods of Ramcroft Copse, Wilderness 
Copse, Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill Copse and Guildfordheath Copse by name but labels all the 
ǿƻƻŘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ŀǊŜŀ ŀǎ Ψ/ƻƳōƭŜȅ ²ƻƻŘǎΩ όFigure 7). The shapes and boundaries of the woods 
shown on the 1793-4 drawing are similar to those shown on the 1771 Fleming estate map but there 
are subtle differences. The boundary between Wilderness Copse and Great Ramcroft Rew (see 
Figure 6) has a somewhat different profile, suggesting a slight expansion of the woodland in this 
area. There also appears to have been a slight expansion of the woodland in the north-east corner of 
.ƭŀŎƪōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƻǇǎŜ ǿƘŜǊŜ 5ŜŀŘƳŀƴΩǎ .Ǌƻƻƪ ŀƴŘ /ƘƛƭƛƴƎǿƻƻŘ .Ǌƻƻƪ ƳŜǊƎŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎǇƛƴƴŜȅ ƳŀǊƪŜŘ ŀǎ 
Ψtƭƻǘ нфΩ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мттм ƳŀǇ appears to have become merged with Blackbridge Copse. However, in 
general the 1793-4 drawing shows little change from the 1771 map. The clearing ƻŦ Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎ IƛƭƭΩ 
between Ramcroft Cospe and Walkershill Copse is shown much as it was depicted on the 1771 map, 
as is the clearing of Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ which separated the two parts of Guildfordheath Cospe. The 
clearing of Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎ IƛƭƭΩ ƛǎ ǎƘŀŘŜŘ ƎǊŜŜƴ, indicating that it was pasture. Within the eastern part of 
Guildfordheath Copse, the density of tree cover shown on the 1793-4 drawing appears to be less 
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than in the other wooded areas, possibly suggesting that this particular area of woodland may have 
been grazed open woodland that had developed from heath. 
 
Both the 1771 Fleming Estate map and the 1793-4 Ordnance Survey drawing show a ribbon of 
woodland extending from the southern end of Guildfordheath Copse as far as Combley Farm on the 
south-east side of a lane or trackΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ Ǌƛōōƻƴ ƻŦ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ƛǎ ƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ Ψ¢Ω ƻƴ ǘƘŜ CƭŜƳƛƴƎ 9ǎǘŀǘŜ ƳŀǇ 
ŀƴŘ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ Ψ¢ƘŜ [ŀƴŜ wŜǿΩ (see Figures 6 and 7).3 However, by the time of the Whitcher Plan of 
Combley Farm, dated 1817, this woodland ribbon had become grassland (see Figure 8). 
 
The 1st edition Ordnance Survey maps at 1:2500 scale and 1:10560 scale produced in 1863 name 
ΨwŀƳŎǊƻŦǘ /ƻǇǎŜΩΣ Ψ.ƭŀŎƪōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƻǇǎŜΩΣ Ψ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎ /ƻǇǎŜΩΣ Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎƘƛƭƭ /ƻǇǎŜΩ ŀƴŘ ΨDǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ 
/ƻǇǎŜΩ (see Figure 2). By 1863 some areas of woodland had been removed in and around Ramcroft 
Copse, no doubt in the interest of greater farming efficiency. One such area was a projecting part of 
Ramcroft Copse extending southward from the south-west corner of the copse that had been shown 
on the 1771 and 1793-4 maps but was absent from the 1863 map. Also absent from the 1863 map 
was a small piece of woodland shown on the 1771 and 1793-4 maps between the fields of Ψ[ƻǿŜǊ 
wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ  and Ψ[ƛǘǘƭŜ wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ ŀƴŘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ƳŀǊƪŜŘ ŀǎ Ψ{ǇƛƴƴŜȅΩ on Figure 6. Two ribbons of 
woodland had been marked on the maps of 1771 and 1793-4 to the west and south of Ramcroft 
Copse (Figures 5, 6 and 7). The first of these ribbons of woodland ƭŀȅ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǿŜǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ Ψ[ƛǘǘƭŜ 
Ramcroft (Plot 35 on the 1771 map). ¢ƘŜ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ΨǊƛōōƻƴΩΣ ƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ ΨDΩ ŀƴŘ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ ΨDǊŜŀǘ wŀƳcroft 
wŜǿΩ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мттм ƳŀǇΣ ǇǊƻǘǊǳŘŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ǿŜǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎ /ƻǇǎŜ ŀƭƻƴƎ the south sides of 
Ψ[ƛǘǘƭŜ wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ ŀƴŘ ΨDǊŜŀǘ wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ όtƭƻǘǎ ор ŀƴŘ ос ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мттм ƳŀǇ). Both these woodland 
ΨǊƛōōƻƴǎΩ ƘŀŘ ōŜŜƴ ǊŜmoved by 1863. The 1771 and 1793-4 maps had also shown a strip of 
ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ Ŝŀǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ Ψ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎ IƛƭƭΩ ŦƛŜƭŘΣ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƴƎ .ƭŀŎƪōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƻǇǎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ²ŀƭƪŜǊǎ Iƛƭƭ 
Copse but this strip of woodland had been removed by 1863. However, there had also been a gain in 
ǘƘŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ DǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ /ƻǇǎŜ ŀǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦƛŜƭŘ ǎƘƻǿƴ ŀǎ Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ ƻƴ 
the 1ттм ƳŀǇ ƘŀŘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ǿƻƻŘŜŘΦ ΨDǳƛldŦƻǊŘ /ƻǘǘŀƎŜΩ ƛǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǘƛƳŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мусо h{ 
ƳŀǇ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩΦ The spinney shown on the 1771 map at the southern edge of Blackbridge 
Copse (Plot 29) appears to have merged with the main part of Blackbridge Copse. It also looks as if 
ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀƴƴŜƭ ŦƻƭƭƻǿŜŘ ōȅ 5ŜŀŘƳŀƴΩǎ .Ǌƻƻƪ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ .ƭŀŎƪōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƻǇǎŜ ƘŀŘ ōŜŜƴ 
altered between 1771 and 1863. 
 
A network of sinuous paths is shown on the 1863 Ordnance Survey 1:2500 and 1:10560 maps within 
the various copses (see Figure 2). The main path within Ramcroft Copse survived after this wood 
passed into Forestry Commission ownership in the twentieth century and is shown on the 1:2500 
Ordnance Survey map of c.1970. However, other paths within Ramcroft Copse that were shown on 
the Ordnance Survey maps of 1863 had disappeared by c.1970 and had been replaced by three 
straight parallel paths running in a north-westerly direction from the original path to the western 
edge of the copse. The Ordnance Survey map of c.1970 shows an expansion of woodland beyond the 
eastern boundary of Wilderness Copse and Ramcroft Copse as marked on the 1:2500 Ordnance 
Survey of 1910. A boundary between the northern and southern parts of Wilderness Copse is not 
shown on the 1:2500 Ordnance Survey of 1863 but appears on the 1:2500 Ordnance Survey of 1898. 
It is also marked on the Ordnance Survey of c.1970 and on the modern digital OS map (Figure 1). 
During the twentieth century the remains of the Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ ŎƭŜŀǊƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ DǳƛƭŘŦƻǊŘƘŜŀǘƘ /ƻǇse 
gradually disappeared and the modern digital OS map shows only a garden enclosure around 
Guildford Cottage with all the surrounding area being wooded (see Figure 1). The modern OS map 
also shows a straightening of the track between Guildfordheath Copse and Walkershill Copse and 
the confinement of this track between defined boundaries. 
 
 

                                                             
3 b. Ψ¢ƘŜ [ŀƴŜ wŜǿΩ ƛǎ ƛƴŎƻǊǊŜŎǘƭȅ ǘǊŀƴǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ Ψ¢ƘŜ [ŀǊƎŜ wŜǿΩ ƛƴ CƛƎǳǊŜ сΦ 
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HER DATA (Figure 1) 
No archaeological sites, monuments or finds are recorded within Ramcroft Copse, Wilderness Copse, 
Blackbridge Copse, Walkershill Copse, Guildfordheath Copse. 
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RECOMMENDATIONS FOR REVISION OF ANCIENT WOODLAND INVENTORY  
based on an analysis of documentary and cartographic evidence (see Figure 9) 

 
The documentary, place-name, landscape and cartographic evidence discussed above has 
demonstrated that there must be some doubt about whether all or most of the present woodland in 
the Combley area existed by 1600. However, the earliest clear evidence is provided by the Fleming 
estate map of 1771 and this has been used as the basis for making recommendations for the revision 
of the Ancient Woodland Inventory. The recommended areas have been determined by tracing the 
outlines of the woods shown on the 1771 map onto a modern map base and then removing areas of 
woodland shown on the 1771 map but subsequently lost. This trace has been incorporated into a 
digital map produced by the Isle of Wight Council (Figure 9). Possible inaccuracies in the 1771 map 
and changes to boundaries in the modern landscape mean that total accuracy cannot be achieved 
but discrepancies between the actual areas of woodland that existed in 1771 and the areas mapped 
in Figure 9 will be very minor. Where the 1771 map was difficult to interpret, the Ordnance Survey 
drawing of 1793-4 has also been used to determine historic woodland boundaries (see Figure 7). 
 
Ramcroft Copse, Blacklands Copse and Wilderness Copse 
Ramcroft Copse and Wilderness Copse are named on the 1771 Fleming estate map (Figures 5 and 6). 
Blackbridge Copse is shown as part of Ramcroft Copse on the 1771 map but is named on the 1st 
edition 1:2500 and 1:10560 maps of 1863, as are Ramcroft Copse and Wilderness Copse (see Figure 
2). However, nearly the whole area of the three copses was mapped as a single site of Ancient 
Replanted Woodland in the Provisional Ancient Woodland Inventory whilst two small areas on the 
edges of this site were identified as Ancient and Semi-Natural Woodland (see Figure 3). Nearly the 
whole area of Ramcroft Copse, Blacklands Copse and Wilderness Copse has been treated as a single 
site of Replanted Ancient Woodland in Figure 9 although a small area of Ancient and Semi-Natural 
Woodland has also been identified. 
 
By plotting the outline of the 1771 map onto a modern map base it is apparent that the modern area 
of woodland is slightly larger than that existing in 1771. This is particularly noticeable along the 
southern edge of Ramcroft Copse and the western edge of Wilderness Copse where woodland has 
ŜƴŎǊƻŀŎƘŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŦƛŜƭŘ ƴŀƳŜŘ ΨDǊŜŀǘ wŀƳŎǊƻŦǘΩ ǎƛƴŎŜ мттм όcompare Figures 1, 5, 6 and 9). At the 
north-east corner of Blacklands Copse the 1771 woodland area did not extent quite as far as the 
ƧǳƴŎǘƛƻƴ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ 5ŜŀŘƳŀƴΩǎ .Ǌƻƻƪ ŀƴŘ /Ƙillingwood Brook and this is reflected in Figure 9.  
However, the most significant proposed change to the Provisional Ancient Woodland Inventory is 
the suggested exclusion of a small strip of woodland along the southern edge of Blackbridge Copse 
(labelled ŀǎ Ψ!ǊŜŀ .Ω ƛƴ Figure 3) which is included at present as an area ƻŦ Ψ!ƴŎƛŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ {ŜƳƛ-Natural 
WoodlandΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ǎǘǊƛǇ ƻŦ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ƛǎ ƳŀǊƪŜŘ ŀǎ Ψtƭƻǘ нфΩ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ мттм ƳŀǇ ōǳǘ ƛǎ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ΨǎǇƛƴƴŜȅΩ 
and has a different appearance from the main area of Blackbridge Copse, suggesting that it was a 
recently planted strip of ground. ¢ƘŜ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ Ψ!ǊŜŀ .Ω ƛǎ ǊŜƳƻǾŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ wŜǾƛǎŜŘ !ƴŎƛŜƴǘ 
Woodland Inventory is based purely on an interpretation of the 1771 map evidence. The existence 
of a good suite of ancient woodland indicator plants within this area may be a reason to leave it 
within the revised Ancient Woodland Inventory area.  
 
Walkershill Copse and Guildfordheath Copse 
The area of Walkershill Copse recommended for inclusion in the Revised Ancient Woodland 
Inventory follows the eastern side of the track shown on the 1771 map (Figure 5). This appears to be 
represented by a solid boundary on the 1793-4 Ordnance Survey drawing (Figure 7) which is 
replicated on the 1863 Ordnance Survey map (Figure 2) and is marked as the line of a drain on Figure 
1. The boundary lies a short distance to the south-east of the modern bridleway. A space between 
the bridleway and the historic woodland boundary appears to have become wooded after 1771 and 
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this area has been included in the Provisional Ancient Woodland Inventory but is now recommended 
for exclusion.   
 
Guildfordheath Copse is not included in the Provisional Inventory of Ancient Woodland (see Figure 
3). It has been suggested in the section on land use history that Guildfordheath Copse may have 
been secondary woodland established on former heathland as its name implies. However, since the 
age of Guildfordheath Copse cannot be clearly established and it is shown on the 1771 map, this 
site is recommended for inclusion in the Revised Ancient Woodland Inventory.  
 
The 1771 map (Figure 5) shows ŀ ŦƛŜƭŘ ƴŀƳŜŘ Ψ¦ǇǇŜǊ IŜŀǘƘΩ όtƭƻǘ нсύ ƻŎŎǳǇȅƛƴƎ ƭŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ 
the present-Řŀȅ ŀǊŜŀ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǇǎŜ ōǳǘ ǘƘƛǎ ŦƛŜƭŘ ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜǎ ǘǿƻ ōƭƻŎƪǎ ƻŦ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘ ƳŀǊƪŜŘ Ψ5Ω ŀƴŘ Ψ¦Ω 
on the ƳŀǇΦ !ǊŜŀ Ψ¦Ω ƛǎ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ ΨIŀǊǘǎ wŜǿΩ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƪŜȅ ŀǊƻǳƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǇΦ These two 
blocks of woodland have been delineated in Figure 9 but the area of present-day woodland shown 
as a clearing on the 1771 map and on the 1793-4 Ordnance Survey drawing has been excluded. The 
private track running between Walkershill Copse and Guildfordheath Copse has also been excluded 
from the area mapped in Figure 9 since this track is shown on the 1771 map and appears to have 
separated the two pieces of woodland although this distinction is not clear on the 1793-4 Ordnance 
Survey drawing (Figure 7). It can be further observed that the 1793-4 Ordnance Survey drawing 
makes a distinction between the vegetation in the western and eastern sections of Guildfordheath 
Copse on either side of the clearing named as Upper Heath on the 1771 map (see Figure 6). The 
vegetation in the western section of the Copse is similar to that shown for surrounding woodland 
but a sparser scattering of trees is indicated in the eastern section, possibly suggestive of grazed 
open woodland rather than heavily managed coppice.  
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Figure 1: Map of HER Data supplied by Isle of Wight Council Archaeology and Historic Environment Service
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Figure 2. 1:10,560 Ordnance Survey: surveyed 1863, engraved 1865 & published 1866 
Scanned from a copy in the possession of Vicky Basford (not to scale)  
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Figure 3: Area currently included in Ancient Woodland Inventory  
(map not to scale) 

 

 

Area A 

Area B 

Area C 



15 
 

Figure 4: Reconstruction of the Lands of Combley Grange (Hockey 1991, Map 2) 

 

 


